COURT OF APPEALS NO. 76796-8-I (Transferred from 48888-4-II.)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS DIVI

STEVEN P. KOZOL, LARRY BALLESTEROS,
KEITH CRAIG, AND KEITH BLAIR,
Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

JPay, Inc., a foreign corporation,

Defendant/Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

STEVEN P. KOZOL LARRY A. BALLESTEROS KEITH CRAIG KEITH BLAIR Petitioners, Pro Per 191 Constantine Way Aberdeen, WA 98520 Ph:(360)537-1800

ORIGINAL

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Appellants, Steven P. Kozol, Larry Ballesteros, Keith Craig and Keith Blair (hereinafter collectively referred to as "Kozol") herein petition this Court for review of the decision by the Court of Appeals, Division I, designated in Appendix A and B of the Petition, as set forth below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division I, affirmed the trial court's ruling granting Respondent, JPay, Inc., summary judgment dismissal of Kozol's claims for violation of the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA"), conversion, trespass to chattels, and for a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief. In its opinion, attached as Attachment A, the appellate court determined that Kozol failed to prove JPay acted with the requisite intent to support the CPA, conversion or trespass to chattels claims. The court also determined that Kozol failed to establish the elements of standing and an "actual, present and existing dispute" under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, ch. 7.24 RCW. Kozol filed motions for RAP 12.4 reconsideration accompanied by a RAP 9.11 motion to submit additional evidence. The appellate court denied these motions. Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is denial of a CR 59 motion for reconsideration of a summary judgment dismissal reviewed on appeal using the de novo or the abuse of discretion standard?

- 2. Are the requisite criteria of "standing" and a showing of an "actual, present and existing dispute" under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act interchangeable?
- 3. When a trial court's oral ruling and written order dismiss a declaratory judgment claim on summary judgment, may an appellate court rely on the trial court's oral ruling to "assume" the dismissal is reviewed using the abuse of discretion standard?
- 4. Does a defendant's offer of a post hoc remedy after the suit was commenced vitiate a plaintiff's cause of action for a CPA violation, conversion, or trespass to chattels?
- 5. In moving for summary judgment does a defendant carry its initial burden by declaring it unintentionally caused injury to "many" or "some" customers, but does not specifically state this included the specific Plaintiffs?
- 6. Is it improper to deny a RAP 9.11 motion seeking to introduce additional evidence upon the appellate court having stated such evidence is material?
- 7. Does a notice of CR 30(b)(6) deposition served upon an out-of-state party conducting commerce in Washington require that party to appear for depositions?
- 8. When a plaintiff brings a motion to compel discovery based upon a defendant's objection of a protected trade secret under RCW 19.108.010(4), are mere arguments of counsel a sufficient factual basis to deny the motion to compel?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Contract Pricing Agreement

In 2009, JPay, Inc. entered into a contract with the Department of Corrections ("DOC") to sell digital music players and digital music downloads to DOC inmates. CP 424-428. Under the contract JPay agreed that "Contractor agrees to provide to DOC, the following services...(6) Operation - Digital media purchases are comparable to cost from major providers such as iTunes" (CP 305-308), and promised for "Offenders purchasing MP3 Players/ Media....Song and music video prices are also comparable to suggested retail prices from the record labels." CP 309.

Under the contract JPay agreed that music download prices would range from \$0.99 to \$2.00 each. CP 308-310. In 2015 Kozol obtained a copy of an online news article in which an investigation into JPay's predatory pricing scheme revealed JPay charged its customers 30%-50% more than iTunes charged for the same music. CP 185. Kozol obtained a copy of the JPay/DOC contract in 2015. CP 270. Kozol realized that if the same songs he purchased from JPay at \$1.99 each were in fact 30%-50% cheaper on iTunes, then JPay's inflated prices may be prohibited under the contract.

B. JPay's Intentional "Malfunction" Procedure

JPay maintains a series of electronic kiosks throughout various DOC prison facilities. These kiosks allow the inmate customers to purchase digital music downloads, and to download the music onto their JPay music players by docking or syncing them to a kiosk. CP 565-572. While JPay's first offered music player was

called the JP3, it began in 2014 to offer a newer model player called the JP4. The JP3s and JP4s operate using the same JPay kiosk platform. CP 86.

While many inmates wanted to upgrade to the JP4, others did not because the JP4 was far bigger and heavier than the compact JP3, and it was widely known that the JP4 operating software and poor quality and design made those model devices clumsy and difficult to use. CP 419-420. Additionally, because the JP3s still played customer's music, many inmates did not want to spend additional money for a new device merely to keep listening to their song purchases.

In May 2015 Kozol's four different JP3 players were docked into the kiosk system on different days to download music. The devices' display screens suddenly registered as being "locked" and "Property of JPay." The JP3's no longer would play music or other content. CP 436, 310-324.

Kozol submitted an exhaustive array of help ticket emails and written letters via U.S. Mail notifying JPay that something in its kiosk software had "locked" each of their JP3 players.

JPay's consistent response was to tell Kozol that nothing could be done, the JP3's "can't be repaired or replaced," and that Kozol could "keep all of [their] music" if they bought a new player, at which time JPay would "reset" their music library account.

CP 436, 438, 212, 268-270, 310-312, 320-323. Kozol provided notice

The JP3s came from the factory with each inmate's name and DOC# preinstalled as a security measure. CP 570, 418.

of potential civil action (CP 438, 443-446, 314-315), but JPay still refused to provide a remedy even upon notice the suit had been filed. CP 438. It was not until the suit was actually served upon JPay (CP 584-585) that it first began to offer any type of remedy on July 10, 2015. CP 440.

C. Superior Court Procedural History

In bringing suit Kozol pled claims for, inter alia, violation of the Consumer Protection Act, ch. 19.86 RCW, conversion, trespass to chattels, and for a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief. CP 6-16. JPay moved for summary judgment as to all claims. CP 90-111. The trial court granted summary judgment dismissal of Kozol's CPA claims on the basis that JPay did not act unfairly or deceptively in trying to get Kozol to purchase additional music players, and that Kozol did not establish an injury. Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP), at 39-40. The trial court granted summary judgment dismissal of Kozol's conversion and trespass to chattels claims on the basis that Kozol did not establish a requisite injury. VRP, at 41. Kozol's declaratory judgment claim concerning the contractual pricing dispute was dismissed on summary judgment without elaboration. VRP, at 45. The court entered the written order granting summary judgment dismissal. CP 510-511. Kozol moved for CR 59 reconsideration. CP 131-242. The trial court denied the motion. CP 512.

D. Court of Appeals Procedural History

This appeal was originally filed in the Division II Court of Appeals. CP 504. Kozol filed their opening briefs, and a

RAP 9.11 motion asking the court to take additional evidence.

The Division II Court denied the RAP 9.11 motion. Kozol and JPay then filed their respective briefs. This appeal was then transferred to the Division I Court of Appeals. The Division I panel heard the appeal on July 21, 2017 and issued its unpublished opinion on December 18, 2017. Appendix A. Kozol filed RAP 12.4 motions for reconsideration and a RAP 9.11 motion. These motions were denied. Appendix B.

In its opinion the Division I Court affirmed summary judgment dismissal of the CPA claims, but in part on different grounds. While affirming the trial court's finding that JPay did not act unfairly or deceptively, the Court of Appeals did not reach whether Kozol suffered an injury, but rather affirmed on the different basis that Kozol did not establish JPay acted intentionally. Opinion, at 5-8. The Court of Appeals also determined that the JPay user agreement was not substantively unconscionable under the CPA. Id.

As to Kozol's conversion and trespass to chattels claims, while the trial court dismissed these claims on summary judgment on the basis Kozol did not establish an injury, the Court of Appeals affirmed on the different basis that Kozol did not

² Kozol's CR 59 motion contained evidence that was unavailable to file on summary judgment. DOC had seized "all" of Kozol's legal files on January 22, 2016. CP 70-75. JPay filed its summary judgment motion on January 25, 2016. CP 90-111. Kozol's first RAP 9.11 motion filed in September 2016 sought to introduce evidence showing specific seized documents were not returned to Kozol until March 1, 2016, and thus comported with CR 59(a)(4). This first RAP 9.11 motion was denied. But upon the Division I's opinion stating Kozol failed to show the seized evidence was unavailable for summary judgment, Kozol filed another RAP 9.11 motion, now that the Court's opinion made manifest that the RAP 9.11 evidence was material.

establish JPay intentionally interfered with Kozol's use of their JP3s and music content. Opinion, at 9-10.

As to Kozol's declaratory judgment claims, the Court of Appeals stated that the abuse of discretion standard applied on appeal because "we assume that the trial court intended to decline to issue a declaratory judgment rather than dismiss a request for a declaratory judgment on summary judgment." Opinion, at 11 n.10. Also, the Court of Appeals determined that Kozol did not carry their burden of establishing the fact that JPay's prices actually are higher than what iTunes charges. Opinion, at 11-13.

As to Kozol's motion to compel discovery and for a CR 56(f) continuance, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of the motions, and held that "Kozol does not have a right to call out-of-state witnesses to Washington to provide deposition testimony," (Opinion, at 16 n.19), and decided that "it is reasonable to conclude that proprietary computer code data involving specific command functions of electronic devices would have potential independent economic value from being kept secret." Opinion, at 16.

Because the Court of Appeals' decision on these issues is contrary to settled law, Kozol now seeks discretionary review from this Court.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Under RAP 13.4(b) there are four criteria this Court relies

upon when considering whether or not to accept review: (1) if

the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision

of the Supreme Court; or (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

It is appropriate for this Court to accept review because the decision of Division I conflicts with decisions of both the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court, and there are issues of substantial public interest which would provide guidance under the Consumer Protection Act and to legal practitioners conducting discovery under the Civil Rules of Superior Court.

A. This Court Should Accept Review to Clarify Whether Denial of a CR 59 Motion for Reconsideration of an Order Granting Summary Judgment is Reviewed Using the De Novo or the Abuse of Discretion Standard

Kozol argued below that when an appellate court reviews the denial of a CR 59 motion for reconsideration of an order granting summary judgment dismissal, the de novo standard applies. Opening Brief of Appellants Ballesteros, Craig and Blair, at 12-13. The Court of Appeals decided that the abuse of discretion standard applies. Opinion, at 17 n.17. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with other appellate decisions.

Civil Rule 59 expressly encompasses motions for reconsideration and for a new trial. It is well settled that a motion for a new trial is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court.

Wash. Irrigation & Dev. Co. v. Sherman, 106 Wh.2d 685, 694, 724

P.2d 997 (1986). However, the "reconsideration" terminology under

CR 59 does apply to motions that seek reconsideration of a decision

leading to a judgment. While in the context of a trial verdict

a denial of a CR 59 motion for new trial is generally reviewed

under the abuse of discretion standard, the alternate relief

of reconsideration under CR 59 following entry of summary judgment

requires de novo appellate review.

In Tanner Elec. Co-Op. v. Puget Sound Power & Light Co., 128 Wm.2d 656, 675 n.6, 911 P.2d 1301 (1996) the Supreme Court noted that evidence not submitted until the filing of a motion for reconsideration was considered by the trial court before denying the motion, and thus, the documents were properly a part of the Supreme Court's review of the underlying summary judgment. In accord the Division III Court of Appeals has decided, "[w]here a trial court grants summary judgment and then denies reconsideration, evidence offered in support of the motion for reconsideration is properly part of an appellate court's de novo review." Rodriguez v. City of Moses Lake, 158 Wm.App. 724, 728, 243 P.3d 552 (2010), review denied, 171 Wm.2d 1025 (citing Tanner, supra). As this Supreme Court established three decades ago, the de novo review standard applies to "all trial court rulings

[&]quot;However, 'this principle is subject to the limitation that, to the extent that such an order is predicated upon rulings of law, such as those involving the admissibility of evidence [...] no element of discretion is involved."

Wash. Irrigation & Dev. Co., 106 Wn.2d at 694 (citing Detrick v. Garretson Packing Co., 73 Wn.2d 804, 812, 440 P.2d 834 (1968)(in turn, quoting Johnson v. Howard, 45 Wn.2d 433, 436, 275 P.2d 736 (1954)).

made in conjunction with a summary judgment motion." Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1988).

In holding the abuse of discretion standard applies, the Division I Court relied on Wagner Dev. Inc. v. Fidelity & Dep. Co., 95 Wn.App. 896, 977 P.2d 636 (1999). But it is inconsistent to review an issue on summary judgment under the de novo standard, and then, when a party argues for reconsideration of the summary judgment issues, only review the issues for an abuse of discretion. To do so undermines the very basis for de novo review and in effect creates two different standards for reviewing a summary judgment issue, meaning a litigant who has evidence unavailable for summary judgment but meets the CR 59(a)(4) requirement must now be relegated to review under the abuse of discretion standard simply because of events outside of his or her control.

The Division I Court's reliance on <u>Wagner</u> conflicts with decisions from the Division III Court and this Supreme Court.

The de novo standard must apply when reviewing denial of a CR 59 motion to reconsider entry of summary judgment, because substantive summary judgment issues are always reviewed de novo. This conflict presents an important issue of law that warrants acceptance for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2).

B. This Court Should Accept Review to Clarify that the Requirement of "Standing" and the "Actual, Present and Existing Dispute" Criterion for a UDJA Claim are Different

In determining that Kozol's declaratory judgment claim was properly dismissed, the Court of Appeals held that because "Kozol

has not established that an actual dispute or the mature seeds of one presently exists," then "Kozol has not demonstrated that they have standing under the UDJA to request a declaratory judgment." Opinion, at 12.

In moving for RAP 12.4 reconsideration Kozol explained that "standing" to bring a UDJA claim is different than the criteria of showing an "actual, present and existing dispute" between the parties. See RAP 12.4 Motion of Appellant Steven Kozol, at 10-13. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument. Appendix B. As such, the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with other decisions of this Supreme Court.

The UDJA's "justiciable controversy" requirement has four prongs. The first prong requires an "actual, present and existing dispute." Benton County v. Zink, 191 Wn.App. 269, 278, 361 P.3d 801 (2015). Here, the Court of Appeals erroneously held that "standing" to bring a UDJA action is the same as the first justiciability prong showing an "actual, present and existing dispute...as distinguished from a...hypothetical...disagreement." Opinion, at 12. However, this Supreme Court has clarified that it is the "third prong" of the justiciability requirement that "has been construed as encompassing standing." Lee v. State, 185 Wn.2d 608, 618, 374 P.3d 157 (2016)(citing To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins, 144 Wn.2d 403, 414, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001). Because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Supreme Court's prior decisions, review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

C. This Court Should Accept Review to Clarify That Upon a Trial Court Expressly Granting Summary Judgment of a UDJA Claim, an Appellate Court Cannot Look to the Trial Court's Oral Ruling and Then "Assume" the Dismissal is Reviewed Under the Abuse of Discretion Standard

Kozol pled a claim for a UDJA declaratory judgment as to contract music pricing. CP 6-7, 13, 15. JPay moved for summary judgment of this claim. CP 105-106. The trial court expressly dismissed all of Kozol's claims on summary judgment. VRP at 45. The trial court entered a written order of summary judgment dismissal on all of Kozol's claims. CP 510-511.

On review the Court of Appeals stated, "we assume that the trial court intended to decline to issue a declaratory judgment rather than dismiss a request for a declaratory judgment on summary judgment," and then proceeded to apply the abuse of discretion standard on review. Opinion, at 11.

On RAP 12.4 reconsideration Kozol explained how the Court of Appeals (1) improperly reframed their appeal issues as arguing an abuse of discretion, (2) improperly deviated from the summary judgment de novo standard of review, and (3) improperly shifted the initial burden on summary judgment to Kozol. See RAP 12.4 Motion of Appellant Steven Kozol, at 2-9. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument. Appendix B.

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with other decisions of the appellate courts and of this Supreme Court. This Court has made clear that "review of the trial court's denial of declaratory relief is de novo." To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins, 144 Wn.2d 403, 410, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001)(citing Nollette v.

Christiansen, 115 Wn.2d 594, 600, 800 P.2d 359 (1990); see O.S.T.

v. Regence Blue Shield, 181 Wn.2d 691, 704, 335 P.3d 416

(2014) (summary judgment of UDJA claim as to validity of contract reviewed de novo); Hood Canal Sand & Gravel, LLC v. Goldmark,

195 Wn.App. 284, 305-306, 381 P.3d 95 (2016) (trial court's determination that declaratory judgment was not appropriate was reviewed de novo).

Moreover, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with general summary judgment principles. Because a summary judgment is reviewed de novo, appellate courts do not look to a trial court's findings and conclusions, because they are "superfluous". Hemenway v. Miller, 116 Wn.2d 725, 731, 807 P.2d 863 (1991); Donald v. City of Vancouver, 43 Wn.App. 842, 848-849, 855 P.2d 1216 (1993). On summary judgment "[t]he burden is on the moving party to demonstrate there is no issue as to a material fact, and the moving party is held to a strict standard." Scott v. Pac. W. Mountain Resort, 119 Wn.2d 484, 502-503, 834 P.2d 6 (1992); CR 56(c).

Here, the Court of Appeals improperly disregarded both the trial court's express oral ruling dismissing "all" of Kozol's claims on "summary judgment" (VRP, at 45), and the signed order granting summary judgment dismissal to all claims. CP 510-511. Instead, the Division I Court excised partial language from the trial court's oral ruling as a basis to sua sponte transmogrify summary judgment dismissal of Kozol's UDJA claim into a quasi "motion" for declaratory judgment that the trial court "declined

to issue," which only garnered review for an abuse of discretion. See RAP 12.4 Motion of Appellant Steven Kozol, at 5-6.

As a result, the court improperly shifted the burden to Kozol and found that he did not establish the fact of whether JPay's prices were higher than iTunes, but completely ignored the fact that JPay's declaration evidence failed to carry its rightful burden on summary judgment to establish the fact of JPay's pricing differences compared to iTunes. RAP 12.4. Motion of Kozol, at 7-9.

Because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals and this Supreme Court, review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2).

D. The Court Should Accept Review to Clarify That a Defendant's Offer of a Post-Hoc Remedy After Being Sued Does not Vitiate a Plaintiff's Cause of Action for a CPA Violation, Conversion or Trespass to Chattels

The Court of Appeals held that because JPay eventually "offered to replace" Kozol's damaged JP3s "free of charge" after Kozol filed suit, then JPay did not violate the CPA. Opinion, at 6-7. The court also held that because JPay "offered them refurbished JP3s or a free upgrade to a newer model" after Kozol had to sue, then there was no conversion or trespass to chattels. Id., at 10.

The appellate court's decision is in conflict with other appellate decisions. In <u>Demalash v. Ross Stores, Inc.</u>, 105 Wn.App. 508, 20 P.3d 447 (2001) the court of appeals reversed summary judgment dismissal of the conversion claims because the defendant did not relinquish the unwarranted control over the chattel until

16 days later upon plaintiff retaining counsel, and the return of chattel created a question for a jury. At best JPay's offer of a remedy could only operate to limit damages, or under the CPA -- which is to be liberally construed in favor of a plaintiff, RCW 19.86.920 -- serve as a mitigator to penalties imposed under RCW 19.86.140. This was at least properly recognized by the trial court. VRP, at 28.

Because the decision below conflicts with the decision in Demalash, review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

E. The Court Should Accept Review to Clarify Whether a
Defendant's Qualified Admission of Accidental Liability
for Injury to "Some" or "Many" Customers is Sufficient
to Carry its Initial Summary Judgment Burden to Show it
did not Intentionally Cause Injury to Specific Plaintiffs

Kozol alleged that JPay sent a software command to their JP3 players in an effort to force Kozol to buy additional JPay product. CP 10:¶4.11, 11:¶4.14. In moving for summary judgment JPay submitted the declaration of Shari Katz who testified that a defective software update for newer model JP4 devices inadvertently caused "many JP3 players to malfunction" for "some [customers]." CP 86. The Court of Appeals held this sufficiently met JPay's initial burden on summary judgment to establish beyond genuine issue that JPay did not intentionally "Malfuction" Kozol's four JP3 players. Opinion, at 3-4. Kozol's RAP 12.4 motion argued this decision was contrary to law. See RAP 12.4 Motion of

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