FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/19/2018 11:38 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 956227

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVEN P. KOZOL, LARRY BALLESTEROS, KEITH CRAIG, and KEITH BLAIR,

Petitioners,

v.

JPAY, INC., a foreign corporation,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

John A Kesler III Washington State Bar No. 39380 BEAN, GENTRY, WHEELER & PETERNELL, PLLC Attorneys for Respondent

910 Lakeridge Way SW Olympia, Washington 98502 Telephone: (360) 357-2852 Facsimile: (360) 786-6943 Email: jkesler@bgwp.net

##

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

### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

RAP 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will only be accepted by the Supreme Court if one of four tests is met: (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States

is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

There are no issues presented by Petitioners that would fall under one of the four tests as outlined by RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals' holding in this case is not in conflict with any decisions within either the Washington Supreme Court or another division of the Court of Appeals. Further, Petitioners allege the decision of the Court of Appeals involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, but none of the arguments presented specifically address this test.

# A. The Court used the proper standards of review in affirming the trial court's decisions.

Petitioners' argument is framed as an issue with reviewing a trial court's denial of a Motion for Reconsideration. Review of a Motion for Reconsideration is based on an abuse of discretion. Wagner Dev. Inc. v. Fid & Deposit Co. of Md., 95 Wn. App. 896, 907, 977 P.2d 639 (1999). Petitioners do not dispute this where a Motion for Reconsideration is submitted after an Order granting summary judgment, but argue the Court of Appeals should consider new evidence submitted with a Motion for

Reconsideration as part of the Court's *de novo* review of a summary judgment order.

Petitioners then argue the Court did not consider the new evidence submitted with their Motion for Reconsideration. However, the Court's Opinion repeatedly indicates that Petitioners' new evidence was reviewed and the Court determined that Petitioners failed to demonstrate the new evidence was material to the case. Opinion pp. 16-19.

Petitioners' arguments in favor of review mischaracterizes the Court of Appeals' analysis. The Court's decision is not in conflict with a decision of other Courts and does not otherwise merit additional review.

# B. Petitioners failed to establish that an actual dispute exists, and lacks standing for a UDJA claim.

Petitioners argue the Court erred in denying declaratory relief and that Petitioners had standing to bring a claim under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act ("UDJA"). The Court concluded that Petitioners lacked standing to bring an action under the UDJA. Opinion p. 13. Petitioner Stephen Kozol interjects his own opinion that "standing' to bring a UDJA claim is different than the criteria of showing an 'actual, present and existing dispute'. . ." Petition for Review p. 11.

Petitioners argue the third prong of justiciability applies and that it has been construed as encompassing standing, citing *Lee v. State*. Petition for Review p. 11; *Lee v. State*, 185 Wn.2d 608, 618, 374 P.3d 157 (2016). However, Petitioners' argument is undeveloped, and, ultimately flawed.

To proceed under the UDJA, a person must present a justiciable controversy and establish standing. *Nelson v. Appleway Chevrolet, Inc.*, 129 Wn. App. 927, 938, 939, 121 P.3d 95, 101 (2005), *aff'd*, 160 Wn. 2d 173, 157 P.3d 847 (2007). Justiciability is a threshold requirement that must be satisfied before proceeding to a litigant's claims. *Huff v. Wyman*, 184 Wn. 2d 643, 650, 361 P.3d 727, 731 (2015) [emphasis added]. The focus is "whether the question sought to be adjudicated is appropriate for the court to address." *Huff* at 650. To establish standing, a party must have an interest that is within the zone of interests protected by a statute or a constitutional right, and they have to have suffered an injury in fact. *Nelson* at 939. Petitioners did not have an interest that was protected by a statute or constitutional right, and even if they did, they certainly did not suffer an injury in fact.

Petitioners lacked both justiciability and standing, and both are required to proceed under the UDJA. The Court was correct to determine

that Petitioners lacked standing to proceed under the UDJA. This decision is not in conflict with a decision of other Courts and does not otherwise merit additional review.

# C. Rejecting Petitioners' UDJA claim via summary judgment was appropriate, and Petitioners have failed to properly state a legal argument.

Petitioners incorrectly summarize the Court's reference to the declaratory judgment decision of the trial court. Petitioners focus on a comment regarding the trial court's decision to decline to issue a declaratory judgment. Opinion p. 11. However, this comment had no bearing on Petitioners' failure to establish an actual dispute existed. Opinion p. 11. Petitioners cite no relevant case law to support their argument that the decision conflicts with other decisions within the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court. Rather, Petitioners revert to their argument on the standard. Petition for Review p. 12; *To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 410, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001). Petitioners appear to confuse several of their arguments here, and misconstrue the Court's wording. Regardless, no clarification is needed because the Court properly determined that Petitioners failed to establish standing and could not proceed under the

UDJA. Opinion p. 12. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or another division of the Court of Appeals and does not otherwise merit additional review.

# D. The Court correctly determined that Petitioners failed to establish a claim for a CPA violation, conversion or trespass.

Petitioners argue the Court erred in affirming the dismissal of claims for a CPA violation, conversion, and trespass to chattels, and Petitioners allege the Court's decisions in these respects conflict with other appellate decisions. Petition for Review pp. 14-15. Petitioners cite *Demelash v. Ross Stores, Inc.*, in support of their argument. Petition for Review p. 15; 105 Wn. App. 508, 522, 20 P.3d 447 (2001). However, *Demelash* does not substantiate Petitioners' argument, and, instead supports the Court's decision.

In *Demelash*, there was a material fact as to whether the store engaged in conversion after withholding the customer's coat for sixteen days. 105 Wn. App. at 522. In reviewing a claim for conversion, *Demelash* provides that a defendant is liable for conversion if he *willfully and without legal justification* deprives another of ownership of his property. *Id.* at 522 [emphasis added]. Petitioners failed to show that JPay willfully interfered

with Petitioners' JP3s. Opinion p. 9. Further, Petitioners failed to show they met the elements of a CPA violation or trespass to chattles. The Court was correct to determine Petitioners failed to show a genuine issue of material fact regarding JPay's alleged willful interference with the JP3s. Opinion p. 9. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals and does not otherwise merit additional review.

# E. Petitioners have failed to show an injury occurred that would survive a motion for summary judgment.

Petitioners fail to cite relevant case law substantiating their apparent argument that the Court's decision to deny reconsideration conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court. Petition for Review pp. 15-16. The cases cited by Petitioners are Washington Supreme Court cases, and neither furthers their argument.

The *Vallandigham* decision cited by Petitioners supports JPay's position because no reasonable decision maker could conclude that Petitioners' claims have merit based on the evidence and arguments in this case. *Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400*, 154 Wn.2d 16, 26, 109 P.3d 805(2005). Petitioners have not shown their JP3 device was any

more special than any other player, and yet Petitioners allege without any factual basis or reasonable inference that JPay targeted their JP3 players to the point where they purposely malfunctioned. Petition for Review p. 16. Again, Petitioners have neither substantiated their conspiracy theory with any supportive case law nor have they showed where the Court's decision was contrary to other decisions of the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court.

F. The Court properly determined the evidence "seized" did not comport with CR 59(a)(4), and it was proper to deny Petitioners' RAP 9.11 motion seeking to introduce immaterial evidence to the appellate court.

The Court may direct that additional evidence based on the merits of the case be taken before the decision of a case on review if: (1) additional proof of facts is needed to fairly resolve the issues on review; (2) the additional evidence would probably change the decision being reviewed; (3) it is equitable to excuse a party's failure to present the evidence to the trial court; (4) the remedy available to a party through post-judgment motions in the trial court is inadequate or unnecessarily expensive; (5) the appellate court remedy of granting a new trial is inadequate or unnecessarily

expensive; and (6) it would be inequitable to decide the case solely on the evidence already taken in the trial court. RAP 9.11(a). A RAP 9.11 motion will be granted only "when a movant [meets] the six criteria in RAP 9.11(a)." See, Spokane Airports v. RMA, Inc. 149 Wn. App. 930, 937, 206 P.3d 364 (2009); Mansour v. Mansour, 126 Wn. App. 1, 7, 131 Wn. App. 255, 128 P.3d 1241 (2006)<sup>1</sup>, and Lawson v. State, 107 Wn.2d 444, 448, 730 P.2d 1308 (1986).<sup>2</sup>

Petitioners' arguments fail to demonstrate that the Court was incorrect in its decision to deny the RAP 9.11 motion. Moreover, Petitioners fail to demonstrate that the decision in this regard conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court.

G. An out-of-state defendant is not required to appear for a noted CR 30(b)(6) deposition when the deposition is located within Washington State.

Petitioners incorrectly interpret the Court's decision and rely on a footnote, rather than the substance of the opinion itself. Regardless, Petitioners' pursuit of discovery included a subpoena to depose JPay

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Improperly cited by Kozol as "129 Wn. App. 1."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Kozol also cited *State v. Gossage*, 138 Wn. App. 298, 156 P.3d 951 (2007). However, this case was reversed in part by *State v. Gossage*, 165 Wn.2d 1, 195 P.3d 525 (2008), and the case does not support his argument.

representatives, who are out-of-state employees of a foreign party. Opinion p. 16. Nothing in the Opinion conflicts with decisions of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court.

Deposing a witness is a two-part process. First, CR 30(b)(6) provides that "a party may in a notice and in a subpoena name as the deponent...a private corporation." Petitioners cite CR 45(d)(2), which pertains to privileged information. Petition for Review p. 20. The Court's opinion cites CR 45(e)(2), which is the applicable rule. Opinion p. 16.

CR 45(e)(2) provides that "a nonresident of the state may be required to attend an examination, produce documents, or permit inspection only in the county where the person is served with a subpoena, *or within 40 miles from the place of service*, or at such other convenient place as is fixed by an order of the court." [Emphasis added]. Petitioners argue that out-of-state JPay employees should have been compelled to appear in Washington State for depositions. CP 355, 120-121; Petition for Review p. 19. Petitioners fail to explain how it would be fair for a Florida corporation based out of Miami to fly employees out to a Washington State penitentiary for a deposition in a case that had no legal basis.

At the end of the analysis on this issue, the Court's decision to affirm dismissal of Petitioners' claims was based on Petitioners' failure to demonstrate that a deposition of a JPay employee, wherever the deposition were to take place, was likely to result in evidence that might create a material issue of fact. Review should not be granted based on an issue that is essentially a moot point.

# H. Petitioners' Motion to Compel discovery was overbroad, sought privileged, trade secret information, and was properly denied.

Petitioners' Motion to Compel discovery was denied, and the denial was affirmed, because "Kozol's requests for discovery were overbroad and sought privileged information." Opinion p. 14.

Petitioners argue they have figured out the software and so it is not a protected trade secret. Petition for Review p. 23. Petitioners misconstrue the case law, and incorrectly conclude that JPay does not have protected trade secrets in its older products. Petitioners assert that JPay had an obligation to hire an independent software expert to illustrate the accessibility of the software. Petition for Review p. 24. Petitioners oversimplify the issue and rationalize that because other inmates have

accessed a code, then JPay's code must be "readily available" and is considered an "open source."

Petitioners' argument is circular and self-serving, and does nothing to illustrate that the Court's decision conflicts with decisions of the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court. Moreover, Petitioners continue to ignore the main point—which is that even if they were provided with JPay's code, there is no way to determine from the code whether a coding error was willful. Everyone agrees there was a software glitch in this case, and confirming the glitch by diagnosing the code does not support Petitioners' underlying claims.

### V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny review.